ALABAMA STATE COMMITTEE OF PUBLIC HEALTH ALABAMA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH ADMINISTRATIVE CODE

CHAPTER 420-5-9 FREESTANDING EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

420-5-901	General Provisions
420-5-902	The License
420-5-903	The Governing Authority
420-5-904	Patient Rights
420-5-905	Personnel
420-5-906	Physical Environment
420-5-907	Patient Transport Or Referral
420-5-908	Medical Staff
420-5-909	Quality Assurance Or Quality Assessment
	And Performance Improvement (QAPI)
	Program
420-5-910	Nursing Services
420-5-911	Infection Control
420-5-912	Medical Records Services
420-5-913	Food And Dietetic Services
420-5-914	Emergency Services
420-5-915	Pharmaceutical Services
420-5-916	Radiologic Services
420-5-917	Laboratory Services
420-5-918	Nuclear Medicine Services
420-5-919	Respiratory Care Services
420-5-920	Discharge Planning
420-5-921	Emergency Preparedness
	-mergeney rreparedness

420-5-9-.01 General Provisions.

- (1) Legal Authority for Adoption of Rules. The following rules for Freestanding Emergency Departments are adopted by the Alabama State Board of Health pursuant to \$22-21-20, et seq., Code of Ala. 1975.
- (2) Definitions.
 - (a) Board or State Board of Health means the Alabama State Board of Health.
 - (b) Department means the Alabama Department of Public Health.
 - (c) Freestanding Emergency Department (FED) means a separately licensed, provider-based department of a hospital licensed by

the Board which is separated from the parent hospital's main campus by not more than 35 miles driving distance by automobile. An FED operates and is held out to the public as a facility that receives patients without requiring an appointment and provides rapid and varied emergency treatment and stabilization for conditions threatening to life and limb, and sudden acute medical conditions.

- (d) Governing Authority means owner(s), hospital association, county hospital board, board of directors, board of governors, board of trustees, or any other comparable designation of a body duly organized and constituted for the purpose of owning, acquiring, constructing, equipping, operating, and maintaining a hospital, and exercising control over the affairs of said hospital.
- (e) Hospital means a health institution licensed in Alabama by the Board which is planned, organized, and maintained pursuant to the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.
- (f) License means the legal authority to operate an FED as defined above and to offer and provide care as permitted under these rules. A license may only be granted by the Board through the actions of its authorized agents.
- (g) License Certificate means a document issued by the Department showing that the entity named on the document is licensed as an FED. A license certificate shall contain the signature of the State Health Officer and other seals and markings designed to demonstrate its authenticity. The license certificate shall be posted in a conspicuous place on the premises.
- (h) Parent Hospital means the licensed hospital that owns and operates an FED.
- (i) Physician means a person currently licensed to practice medicine and/or surgery in Alabama under the provisions contained in current state statutes.
- (j) Principal means an individual associated with a governing authority or a license applicant in any of the following capacities:
 - 1. Administrator, or equivalent;
 - 2. Chief Executive Officer, or equivalent;
 - 3. Owner of a controlling interest in the governing authority, or, if the governing authority is a subsidiary of another business entity, owner of a controlling interest in the parent business entity; or

- 4. If no person has a controlling interest in the governing authority or in a parent corporation of the governing authority, then an owner of 10 percent or more of the governing authority or of any business entity of which the governing authority is a subsidiary.
- (k) Registered Nurse means a person who holds an active license issued by the Alabama Board of Nursing.
- (3) An FED shall be accredited by the same accrediting organization as the parent hospital if the parent hospital has federal deemed status with the Department of Health and Human Services' Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS).
- (4) An FED, as a department of a hospital, shall be in compliance with the hospital conditions of participation as found at 42 CFR \S 482 as they relate to emergency departments and with the requirements found at 42 CFR \S 413.65 for provider-based off campus departments of the main hospital.
- (5) An FED shall not retain any patient beyond 23 hours and 59 minutes under normal operations and shall not hold itself out as an emergency hospital.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.02 The License.

- (1) Classifications of Licenses. Each FED shall be licensed pursuant to the regulations adopted herein. All licenses are granted for the calendar year and shall expire on December 31 unless renewed by the owner for the succeeding year.
 - (a) Unrestricted License. An unrestricted license may be granted by the Board after it has determined that the parent hospital and FED is willing and capable of maintaining compliance with these rules.
 - (b) Probational License. At its discretion, the Board may grant a probational license when it determines that both of the following conditions exist:
 - 1. The FED has engaged in one or more deficient practices which are serious in nature, chronic in nature, or which the FED and parent hospital have failed to correct; and
 - 2. The parent hospital's current governing authority has demonstrated the capability and willingness to correct cited problems and to maintain compliance.

(c) A probational license shall be granted for a specific period which may be extended but which shall in no case exceed one year.

(2) Application.

- (a) Application. An applicant for initial licensure shall provide all information on the application form prescribed by the Department, including all information required by law, these rules, and the policies and procedures of the Department, and shall submit such additional information as shall be required by the Department in its discretion to demonstrate that the applicant has the ability and the willingness to comply with these rules. Each application shall be signed by a person authorized to bind the applicant to the representations in the application and any supporting documentation.
- (b) Fee. An initial license application, an application for license renewal, or an application for a change in ownership, shall be accompanied by the application fee specified in §22-21-24, Code of Ala. 1975. An application for a name change is not subject to a license application fee. An application fee is non-refundable. Any application fee submitted in the incorrect amount shall nevertheless be deposited. If the fee submitted is too large, a refund for the difference shall be processed using the Department's usual procedures. If the fee submitted is too small, the applicant shall be notified and the application shall not be considered until the difference is received. Any application submitted without any fee shall be returned to the applicant. If an incomplete application is submitted, the application fee shall be deposited, and the applicant shall be notified in writing of the defects in the application. If the applicant fails to submit all required additional information within 10 working days of the date of the notice, the application shall be denied. The Department may in its discretion extend the deadline for submitting additional information. Denial of an application as incomplete shall not prejudice the applicant from submitting a new application, accompanied by the requisite fee, at a future date.
- (c) Name of Facility. Every FED shall have a unique name that reflects the name of the parent hospital of which it is a department followed by the words "Freestanding Emergency Department." No FED shall be allowed to use the term "Urgent Care" in its name. No FED shall change its name without first applying for a change of name approval nor shall it change its name until such approval is granted. The Department may in its discretion deny an initial FED application or an application for a change of name if the Department determines that the proposed name is misleading to the public or that the name is overly similar to the name of an already licensed FED.

Separately licensed FEDs owned by the same governing authority may have names that are similar to one another and distinguished from one another in some other manner, such as a geographic description. If an initial FED application is denied under this rule provision, the applicant shall be provided a reasonable period of time to submit a revised application with a different name.

(d) How to Obtain Applications. Information on how to obtain applications and where to submit applications can be found on the Department's Web site at http://www.adph.org.

(3) Licensing.

- (a) License. If an applicant submits a timely and complete application accompanied by the appropriate license fee and any supporting documentation that may be required by the Department, and if the Department is satisfied on the basis of the application that the applicant is willing and capable of compliance with these rules, and if granting such a license would not violate any other state or federal law or regulation, then the Department, as agent for the Board, may grant a license to the applicant. All licenses granted shall expire at midnight on December 31 of the year in which the license is granted. The Department, as agent for the Board, may deny a license. A license shall only be valid at the licensed premises and for the business entity licensed. It is a condition of licensure that the licensee shall continuously occupy the licensed premises and remain open to the public with an emergency physician on duty at all times, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. If an FED fails to remain open and fully staffed as required, its license shall become void. Before such a facility which has closed may be relicensed, a new license application is required.
- (b) License Renewal. Licenses may be renewed by the applicant as a matter of course upon submission of a completed renewal application and payment of the required fee. When the Department has served written notice on an FED of its intent to revoke or downgrade the license, a renewal application shall be filed but does not affect the proposed adverse licensure action.
- (c) License Certificate. A license certificate shall be issued by the Department to every successful initial licensure applicant and to every successful renewal applicant. It shall set forth the name and physical address of the FED, the name of the governing authority, the name of the parent hospital, and the expiration date of the license.
- (d) Change of Ownership. An FED license is not transferrable. A change of ownership may only occur between hospitals duly licensed in Alabama by the Board. In the event that the legal

ownership of the right to occupy an FED's premises is transferred to an individual or entity other than the licensee, the FED's license shall become void and continued operation of the FED shall be unlawful pursuant to \$22-21-22, Code of Ala. 1975, and subject to penalties as provided in \$22-21-33, Code of Ala. 1975, unless an application for a change of ownership has been submitted to and approved by the Department prior to the transfer of legal ownership. An application for change of ownership shall be submitted on the form prescribed by the Department, shall be accompanied by the requisite application fee set forth in \$22-21-24, Code of Ala. 1975, and shall be subject to the same requirements and considerations as are set forth above for initial license applications. An application for a change of ownership shall be submitted and signed by the prospective new licensee, or its agent, in conjunction with a lawful representative of the parent hospital, and also either signed by the current licensee or its agent, or accompanied by a court order demonstrating that the current licensee has been dispossessed of the legal right to occupy the premises and that the prospective new licensee has been awarded the legal right to occupy the premises. Upon approval of a change of ownership, the Department shall notify the current licensee and the new license applicant, and shall issue a license certificate to the new licensee.

- (e) Change of Name. An FED may apply for a change of name by submitting a completed application on a form prescribed by the Department. There is no application fee for a change of name application. Upon approval of a change of name, the Department shall notify the licensee and shall issue a revised license certificate to the licensee, which may be predicated on the return of the old license certificate.
- (f) Relocation. An FED license is valid only at the premises stated on the most recent license application or renewal application, and recited as a physical address on the current FED license certificate. Prior to physically relocating an FED, plans and specifications shall be submitted for review and approval to the Department in accordance with the Board's Rules for Submission of Plans and Specifications for Health Care Facilities, Chapter 420-5-22, Ala. Admin. Code. The parent hospital and the FED shall submit a relocation application for the FED to the Department on a form prescribed by the Department. Upon approval of a change of address, the Department shall notify the licensee and shall issue a revised license certificate to the licensee, which may be predicated on the return of the old license certificate.
- (g) Denial and Revocation of a License.
 - 1. The Board may deny a license to any applicant or revoke the license to operate an FED on grounds of

insufficient evidence of the willingness or ability to comply with $\S 22-21-20$ through 22-21-34, Code of Ala. 1975, or these rules, including the reasons justifying denial or revocation of a license as set out in the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.

- 2. Hearing procedures concerning the denial or revocation of a license shall be governed by the provisions of the Alabama Administrative Procedure Act, §41-22-1, et seq., Code of Ala. 1975, and the Board's Rules for Hearing of Contested Cases, Chapter 420-1-3, Ala. Admin. Code.
- (4) Failure to Renew a License. Any licensee who fails to renew a license on or before the close of business on the last business day in December shall be assessed a late fee equal to the amount of the original license fee. A license may only be renewed with the payment of a late fee before the close of business on the last business day in January of any calendar year. A license which has not been renewed by the end of January has expired and shall be void.
- (5) Compliance with federal, state, and local laws. The parent hospital and FED shall be in compliance with applicable federal, state and local laws.
 - (a) Licensing of Staff. Staff of the facility shall be currently licensed, certified or registered in accordance with applicable laws.
 - (b) Compliance with Other Laws. The parent hospital and FED shall comply with laws relating to fire and life safety, sanitation, communicable and reportable diseases, Certificate of Need review and approval, reporting of health care acquired infections, adverse event reporting, and other relevant health and safety requirements. If a parent hospital or FED utilizes the services of a clinical laboratory located outside the State of Alabama, the parent hospital or FED shall ensure that, in connection with any work performed for the parent hospital or FED, the laboratory complies with the requirements for the reporting of notifiable diseases to the Department, as set forth in state law and the rules of the Board.
- (6) A parent hospital or FED shall promptly notify the Department in writing when there is any change in its accrediting organization or deemed status.
- (7) An FED shall surrender its license and cease all operations if the license of the parent hospital is voluntarily terminated, revoked by the Board, or suspended by emergency order of the State Health Officer.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq. History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.03 The Governing Authority.

- (1) An FED and its parent hospital shall have an effective governing authority that is legally responsible for the conduct of the FED and parent hospital as an institution. The governing authority of the parent hospital shall provide administrative oversight for the care and services of the FED. The parent hospital's governing authority shall comply with the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.
- (2) Contracted services. The governing authority shall be responsible for services furnished in the FED whether or not they are furnished under contracts. The governing authority shall ensure that a contractor of services (including one for shared services and joint ventures) furnishes services that permit the FED to maintain compliance with the requirements of these rules.
 - (a) The governing authority shall ensure that the services performed under a contract are provided in a safe and effective manner.
- (b) The FED shall maintain a list of all contracted services, including the scope and nature of the services provided.
 Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
 Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq.
 History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.04 Patient Rights.

The FED, as a department of the parent hospital, shall have an obligation to protect and promote the rights of each patient and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.05 Personnel.

(1) The freestanding emergency department (FED), as a department of the parent hospital, shall have personnel management as a section of the hospital's personnel system and shall be governed

by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, <u>Ala. Admin.</u>
<u>Code</u>. The FED shall be adequately staffed at all times to meet the needs of the patient population served.

- (2) Staff Qualifications for FEDs.
 - (a) The FED Medical Director shall be:
 - 1. Either
 - (i) Board Certified by American Board of Emergency Medicine, the American Board of Physician Specialties, or a like credentialing organization for emergency medicine.
 - (ii) Certified or Board eligible to sit for the examination of one of the following boards: internal medicine, family medicine, or surgery. The physician shall also hold a current certificate from each of the following approved programs: Advanced Coronary Life Support; Advanced Trauma Life Support; and Advanced Pediatric Life Support; and must have at least 3 years of full-time clinical experience in emergency medicine within the past 5 years. Physicians meeting the aforesaid criteria with at least 1 but fewer than 3 years of fulltime clinical experience in emergency medicine must also hold a certificate of completion for all modules of the Emergency Medicine Core Training (EMCT) Program. Physicians who are not board certified in emergency medicine will need to annually maintain one-half of their Alabama State Continuing Medical Education credits in emergency medicine.
 - 2. Competent in management and administration of clinical services in an Emergency Department.
 - 3. Knowledgeable about EMS operations and the regional EMS network.
 - 4. Responsible for assessing and making recommendations to the parent hospital's credentialing body related to the qualifications of FED physicians and the clinical privileges granted to FED physicians.
 - 5. Responsible for assuring that the clinical staff are continuously qualified, competent, and supervised in emergency care of patients.
 - (b) Each FED physician shall be individually credentialed by the parent hospital medical staff.
 - (c) At least one physician on site during hours of operation shall be either of the following:

- 1. Certified or Board Eligible by the American Board of Emergency Medicine or the American Board of Osteopathic Emergency Medicine.
- 2. Certified or Board Eligible to sit for the examination of one of the following boards: Internal Medicine, Family Medicine, or Surgery; and shall hold a certificate from the following approved programs: Advanced Coronary Life Support; Advanced Trauma Life Support; Advanced Pediatric Life Support; and shall have 3 years of full time clinical experience in emergency medicine within the past 5 years.
- (d) The Director of Nursing Services in the FED shall be a Registered Nurse with an active and unencumbered license from the Alabama Board of Nursing and shall direct all nursing services and all nursing support personnel, and must:
 - 1. Demonstrate by education and experience competency in emergency room nursing. The designation of Certified Emergency Nurse (CEN) is a benchmark, but not required.
 - 2. Provide evidence of competent management and administration of clinical services in an Emergency Department.
 - 3. Ensure nursing and support staff are appropriately educated and qualified.
- (e) Each Registered Nurse (RN) in an FED shall:
 - 1. Provide evidence of at least 1 year previous Emergency Department or ICU experience as a staff nurse or completion of an Emergency Department educational program.
 - 2. Demonstrate evidence of the knowledge and skills to deliver emergency nursing care.
- (f) At least one licensed registered nurse who has training and experience in emergency care shall be on site at the FED at all times. At least one registered nurse on site shall hold a current certification in both Advanced Cardiac Life Support and Advance Pediatric Life Support, or two registered nurses on site at all times, one having current certification in Advanced Cardiac Life Support and one with current certification in Advanced Pediatric Life Support.
- (g) At least one certified and registered radiology technologist shall be on site at the FED at all times.

- (h) At least one person qualified to perform laboratory testing at the level of laboratory services provided on site by the FED shall be on duty at all times.
- (3) Each FED shall have a full time administrative director who acts as a liaison with the parent hospital, directs the daily administrative operations of the FED, ensures the employees and staff are adequately trained, and provides oversight of the maintenance of the FED, coordination of patient safety and quality improvement programs and activities.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013. Amended: Published December 31, 2024; effective February 14, 2025.

420-5-9-.06 Physical Environment.

- (1) An FED shall be constructed, arranged, and maintained to ensure the safety of the patient, and to provide facilities for diagnosis and treatment of patients as a department of the parent hospital and shall comply with the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.
- (2) An FED shall comply with the applicable requirements of the Guidelines for Design and Construction of Health Care Facilities.
- (3) Remodeling.
 - (a) The remodeled area of existing facilities shall be upgraded to comply with the current requirements for new construction.
 - (b) Any remodeling to existing facilities shall not diminish the level of safety which existed prior to the start of the work.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.07 Patient Transport Or Referral.

(1) Each FED shall have an inter-facility transfer protocol with the parent hospital. The FED shall have a transportation agreement with licensed ground and air emergency medical provider services for necessary transport of patients to the appropriate acute care hospital primarily for non-acute emergency transportation. The FED may utilize a "911" call for acute emergency transport of

patients, but shall not utilize "911" services as a routine plan for non-emergency patient transport. The transfer protocol shall be approved by the FED Medical Director and parent hospital Medical Staff.

- (2) The FED shall transfer or refer patients when necessary, along with all necessary medical information, to appropriate licensed facilities, agencies, or outpatient services for follow up or ancillary care. In no event shall an FED knowingly refer a patient to an unlicensed health care facility in violation of \$22-21-33(b), Code of Ala. 1975.
- (3) For transportation out of a facility, if a patient is unable to ride in an upright position or if such patient's condition is such that he or she needs observation or treatment by emergency medical services personnel, or if the patient requires transportation on a stretcher, gurney or cot, the facility shall arrange or request transportation services only from providers who are emergency medical provider services licensed by the Board. For the purposes of this rule, an upright position means no more than 20 degrees from vertical. If such patient is being transported to or from a health care facility in another state, transportation services may be arranged with a transport provider licensed as an emergency medical provider service in that state.
- (4) The FED shall have an Alabama Department of Transportation approved helicopter pad on-site.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.08 Medical Staff.

The members of the FED medical staff shall be credentialed by and be part of the medical staff of the parent hospital, and shall conform to the medical staff bylaws and rules and regulations of the parent hospital and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.09 Quality Assurance Or Quality Assessment And Performance Improvement (QAPI) Program.

The FED shall participate in the parent hospital's Quality Assurance or Quality Assessment and Performance Improvement (QAPI)

Program and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims

Statutory Authority: <u>Code of Ala. 1975</u>, §§22-21-20, <u>et seq</u>. **History:** New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.10 Nursing Services.

The FED shall have an organized nursing service that provides 24-hour nursing services that meets the needs of the patients. The nursing services shall be furnished or supervised by a registered nurse and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.11 Infection Control.

- (1) The FED shall provide a sanitary environment to avoid sources and transmission of infections and communicable diseases. There shall be an active program for the prevention, control, and investigation of infections and communicable diseases supervised and administered by the parent hospital.
- (2) The FED shall participate in the parent hospital's infection control program and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code. **Author:** W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.12 Medical Records Services.

- (1) The FED shall have medical records fully integrated in the medical record system of the parent hospital and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code. Each FED shall also maintain a picture archiving and communications system ("PACS") which provides for the timely and efficient storage, transmission and retrieval of digital medical images.
- (2) Each FED shall maintain a register or log of all patients who present to the FED for treatment or services.

- (3) Each FED shall maintain a medical record for each patient that documents the purpose of the visit and discharge instructions including the detection and course for necessary follow up.
- (4) All orders, including verbal orders, shall be dated, timed, and authenticated by the ordering practitioner in accordance with hospital policy, but no longer than 30 days after entry.
- (5) The parent hospital shall maintain a plan to transfer all records to another facility in the event the FED ceases operation. Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq. History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.13 Food And Dietetic Services.

- (1) The FED shall have appropriate food and beverages available for the patients. The FED shall be responsible for meeting the nutritional needs of patients. The food services provided to patients shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.
- (2) The FED may, at its discretion, make available food and beverage service to staff and visitors. The available food and beverage service areas must be maintained in a clean and sanitary manner

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.14 Emergency Services.

- (1) The FED shall meet the emergency needs of its patients in accordance with acceptable standards of practice and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, $\underline{\text{Ala.}}$ Admin. Code.
- (2) Each FED shall meet the Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act (EMTALA) statute codified at \$ 1867 of the Social Security Act (42 USC \$ 1395dd) and the accompanying regulations in 42 CFR \$ 489.24 and the related requirements at 42 CFR \$489.20(1),(m),(q), and (r), as a required condition of participation for CMS certification.
- (3) Each FED shall maintain a communication system that is fully integrated with the parent hospital emergency department and the designated EMS System.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26,

2013.

420-5-9-.15 Pharmaceutical Services.

The FED shall have pharmaceutical services available on-site that meet the needs of its patients and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code, and all applicable federal and state law and rules governing the maintenance and provision of pharmaceutical products and services. Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq. History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.16 Radiologic Services.

The FED shall have the essential diagnostic radiologic equipment and services immediately available on-site (such as X-ray, CT scan, and ultrasound equipment) capable of supporting the emergency services offered at the FED. Such services shall be performed by qualified personnel. All radiologic services shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.17 Laboratory Services.

- (1) The FED shall have adequate laboratory services available on site to meet the needs of its patients. Laboratory services shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code. Specialized laboratory studies which are required as medically necessary at the time that the patient presents to the FED, but not available in the laboratory facilities on site, shall be sent to the parent hospital or other appropriate laboratory for processing. The FED shall have policies and procedures for this arrangement which include review and communication of results to the appropriate individual.
- (2) The FED's laboratory shall maintain a current federal CLIA number and certificate separate from the CLIA number and certificate of the parent hospital.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq. History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26,

2013.

420-5-9-.18 Nuclear Medicine Services.

If the FED provides nuclear medicine services, those services shall meet the needs of the patients in accordance with acceptable standards of practice and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$\$22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.19 Respiratory Care Services.

- (1) The FED shall meet the needs of its patients for respiratory care services in accordance with acceptable standards of practice and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.
- (2) Respiratory care services may be provided by registered nurses who are properly trained and supervised.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$\$22-21-20, et seq. History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.20 Discharge Planning.

The patient or their representative shall be provided written discharge instructions regarding follow up referrals/appointments, medication management and procurement, durable medical equipment, availability of community resources and other identified needs at the time of discharge.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §§22-21-20, et seq.
History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26, 2013.

420-5-9-.21 Emergency Preparedness.

The emergency preparedness of the FED shall be integrated with, consistent with, and shall be governed by the Board's Rules for Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.

Hospitals, Chapter 420-5-7, Ala. Admin. Code.

Author: W. T. Geary, Jr., M.D., Carter Sims

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §\$22-21-20, et seq

History: New Rule: Filled July 22, 2013; effective August 26,

2013.